THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA  
IN THE COURT OF APPEALS

---

APPEAL FROM FLORENCE COUNTY  
COURT OF COMMON PLEAS

MICHAEL G. NETTLES, CIRCUIT COURT JUDGE

---

APPELLATE CASE NO.: 2020-000614

---

James Marlowe and Lori Marlowe, individually, and as Next Friends of K.P., H.M., and B.M., Minors under the age of Eighteen (18) years,

Appellants,

v.

South Carolina Department of Transportation,

Respondent.

---

**APPELLANTS' FINAL BRIEF**

---

**HOPKINS LAW FIRM, LLC**

William E. Hopkins, Jr. (SC Bar No. 66474)  
J. Clay Hopkins (SC Bar No. 102053)  
171 Church Street, Suite 160  
Charleston, SC 29401  
(843) 314-4202 – Telephone  
(843) 314-9365 – Facsimile

## **STATEMENT OF ISSUES ON APPEAL**

- I. Did the trial court err in determining the Stormwater Management and Sediment Reduction Act applies to this case and supports granting summary judgment?
- II. Did the trial court err in making factual determinations regarding the cause of the flooding on Appellants' property and Appellants' injuries?
- III. Did the trial court err in placing itself in the role of the jury by improperly weighing Appellants' expert witness's testimony?
- IV. Did the trial court err in failing to consider, or rule upon, Appellants' discretionary immunity arguments in opposition to Respondent's motion for summary judgment and Appellants' Rule 59(e) motion for reconsideration?
- V. Did the trial court err in granting summary judgment on Appellants' inverse condemnation claim when Respondent failed to raise that issue in its motion for summary judgment?
- VI. Did the trial court err in improperly making factual determinations reserved for the jury in granting summary judgment on Appellants' inverse condemnation claim?

## **STATEMENT OF THE CASE**

On May 3, 2017, Appellants Lori Marlowe and Jamie Marlowe ("Marlowes") brought this action against Respondent South Carolina Department of Transportation ("SCDOT"), Southern Asphalt, Inc. and United Infrastructure Group, Inc. asserting claims for inverse condemnation, conversion, due process violations, and negligence. (R. pp. 13-24). On August 22, 2018, Appellants filed an Amended Complaint against the same parties, adding their minor children as named plaintiffs in the action, asserting the same claims. (R. pp. 35-43).

On March 26, 2019, a consent order was entered dismissing all claims against United Infrastructure Group, Inc.

On November 7, 2019, SCDOT filed its motion for summary judgment solely on the basis that it was immune from liability on all of Appellants' claims pursuant to the

South Carolina Tort Claims Act (“TCA”), S.C. Code Ann. §15-78-10, *et seq*, and that there was no evidence it breached any duty to the Marlowes. (R. pp. 54-55).

A hearing was held on February 10, 2020. (R. p. 383). On February 27, 2020, a consent order was entered dismissing all claims against Southern Asphalt, Inc. On March 25, 2020, the trial court issued an Order granting summary judgment in favor of SCDOT. (R. pp. 1-9). Thereafter, on April 3, 2020, the Marlowes filed a Rule 59(e), SCRPC, motion to alter or amend – commonly referred to as a motion for reconsideration. (R. pp. 358-382). Specifically, the Marlowes argued that reconsideration of that ruling was warranted:

- 1) because the Stormwater Management and Sediment Reduction Act is inapplicable in this case;
- 2) because the Court made improper factual determinations specifically reserved for the jury, including, who or what – and specifically, whether Respondent, its agents, or employees – caused the flooding to Appellants’ property;
- 3) because the Court improperly weighed the testimony of the Marlowes’ expert witness;
- 4) because the Court failed to address the Marlowes’ discretionary immunity arguments;
- 5) because the Court granted summary judgment on the Marlowes’ inverse condemnation claim despite SCDOT failing to even raise the issue in its Notice or Motion for Summary Judgment;
- 6) because the Court improperly made factual determinations reserved for the jury in determining the facts of this case do not amount to inverse condemnation;
- 7) because the Court relied on an inapplicable test to determine that the Marlowes’ had not sustained an injury necessary to establish inverse condemnation.

Three (3) days later, on April 6, 2020, the trial court denied the Marlowes’ motion

for reconsideration in a two sentence Form 4 Order. (R. pp. 10-12). The next day, April 7, 2020, the Marlowes timely filed their Notice of Appeal.

### **FACTS**

The Marlowe family formerly lived in a single-family home located at 2479 W. Highway 378, Pamplico, South Carolina, in Florence County, which Jamie Marlowe purchased in 2003. (R. p. 267, ¶¶6-19). In late 2013, SCDOT began designing and seeking bids for the 378 Widening Project (the “Project”), which would affect the roadway immediately in front of the Marlowes’ property. Construction began in early 2015. (See R. p. 37).

The Project included installing a new bridge box culvert adjacent to the Marlowes’ property, which would be installed under the new and existing 378 roadway. Before construction began, SCDOT engaged in an extensive design phase.

Stanley Roof, an engineer with SCDOT (and one (1) of its 30(b)(6) witnesses), performed an initial study concerning the existing box culvert adjacent to the Marlowes’ property in August of 2013. (R. pp. 135-36). In its initial investigation, SCDOT determined that the existing culvert could not be extended and would need to be replaced. (*Id.* p. 136, ¶¶5-9). SCDOT never considered placing the Project’s new culvert in any other location than the one ultimately selected. (*Id.*, ¶¶17-20).

During this process, SCDOT determined that “[t]he resident construction engineer for Florence County indicated that he had never seen the roadway overtopped at this location.” (*Id.* p. 137, ¶¶17-23). This was an important consideration for SCDOT because it “usually look[s] at past floods for a site and tr[ies] to get as much as information as [it] can for it.” (*Id.* p. 138, ¶¶19-23). Despite this important step in its design and evaluation,

SCDOT did not speak with the Marlowes, or any other adjacent property owners, to ascertain whether the roadway in front of their property ever overtopped. (*Id.*, p. 140, ¶¶20-24).

In June of 2017, after complaints primarily from the Marlowes regarding flooding on their property, SCDOT performed an investigation and completed an addendum to its original design. (*Id.* pp. 142-43). At that point, the new culvert had not been completely installed. (*Id.*, p. 143, ¶¶8-18).

However, this time, SCDOT determined that for a 25-year rain event, the existing roadway in front of the Marlowes' property would experience overtopping (*Id.* p. 144, ¶20 – p. 145, ¶8), – that is, where flood waters from adjacent property flows over the top of the roadway to an outlet, which is usually a stream, river, pond, or lake. SCDOT's standard for culverts is withstanding a 100-year rain event. (*Id.* p. 140, ¶¶4-8). Incredibly, SCDOT claimed this new information was discovered because it “didn't have that information at the time” – in 2013. (*Id.* p. 145, ¶¶9-13). The only reason this information was unavailable to SCDOT was because of its failure perform any analysis on the subject.

Again, SCDOT did not speak with the Marlowes during its investigation, or any adjacent property owners. (*Id.* p. 147, ¶¶1-4; p. 148, ¶¶2-19). During the investigation, though, SCDOT's analysis determined that the existing culvert (present prior to the Project's construction) “would overtop for discharges associated with the 25-year return interval and greater.” (See R. p. 79). In its addendum, SCDOT included its determination that the Marlowes' “structure” – or house – “could be impacted by a flood associated with the 25-year return interval, and potentially the 10-year interval.” (*Id.*) (R. p. 148, ¶¶1-5). The most disturbing aspect of this information's inclusion in the addendum is the

information was readily available to SCDOT in 2013. (R. p. 171, ¶¶21-23) (“Q: And, so, you had the same information in 2013, correct? A: Correct.”). At this point, though, the new culvert was still not completely installed. (R. p. 149, ¶¶6-13).

A critical piece of SCDOT’s new addendum was missing: any consideration of the higher elevation of the Project’s new roadway being built simultaneously next to the existing roadway. (R. p. 151, ¶¶14-18). Therefore, the 2017 addendum, which included an analysis of the existing roadway’s height compared to the height of the Marlowes’ house, did not even include an accurate figure for the height of the roadway in relation to the Marlowes’ home. (R. p. 152, ¶¶5-8). In 2017, as it concerned the roadway’s overtopping, SCDOT again failed to consider whether the new roadway could potentially block the existing roadway’s overtopping. (R. p. 153, ¶¶2-5). More importantly, though, SCDOT never considered this possibility or performed any analysis in 2013 when it drafted its initial design report. (R. p. 153, ¶¶8-11).<sup>1</sup>

In October of 2015, South Carolina experienced historic rainfall levels, with one-day rainfall levels at the two (2) closest NOAA weather stations to the Marlowes’ property experiencing greater than 10-year but less than 25-year rainfall levels. (R. p. 99). Those stations experienced 4-day rainfall levels between 200-500 years. (R. p. 99). This event, in conjunction with SCDOT’s construction of the Project, caused catastrophic flooding to the Marlowes’ home, with approximately 18 inches of water in their house. (R. p. 220, ¶¶12-19). After that, the Marlowes essentially reconstructed their home with the

---

<sup>1</sup> SCDOT also testified that it never performed (prior to construction beginning, in 2015, or in 2016) any analysis concerning whether the new roadway’s construction next to the existing roadway could create a “choke point.” (R. p. 161, ¶¶17-21; p. 161, ¶22 – p. 162, ¶5).

assistance of FEMA and taking out personal loans. (R. p. 219-20). Then, in 2016, Hurricane Matthew passed through the region, again bringing historic levels of rainfall to the Marlowes' property, with 1-day rainfall levels corresponding to greater than 10-year but less than 25-year levels. (R. p. 99). Those stations experienced 4-day rainfall levels greater than 100-years but less than 200-years. (R. p. 99). The Marlowes' home was again destroyed, with water levels between 15 and 16 inches, and since then, the Marlowes have been unable to live at their home. (R. p. 220, ¶¶16-25).

### **STANDARD OF REVIEW**

When reviewing a grant of summary judgment, appellate courts apply the same standard applied by the trial [392 S.C. 122] court pursuant to Rule 56(c), SCRPC. *Fleming v. Rose*, 350 S.C. 488, 493, 567 S.E.2d 857, 860 (2002) (citation omitted). A trial court should grant a motion for summary judgment when "the pleadings, depositions, answers to interrogatories, and admissions on file, together with the affidavits, if any, show that there is no genuine issue as to any material fact and that the moving party is entitled to a judgment as a matter of law." Rule 56(c), SCRPC; accord *Trivelas v. South Carolina Dep't of Transp.*, 348 S.C. 125, 130, 558 S.E.2d 271, 273 (Ct. App. 2001); *Wells v. City of Lynchburg*, 331 S.C. 296, 301, 501 S.E.2d 746, 749 (Ct. App. 1998); see also *Tupper v. Dorchester Cnty.*, 326 S.C. 318, 325, 487 S.E.2d 187, 191 (1997) ("Summary judgment is proper where there is no genuine issue as to any material fact and the moving party is entitled to judgment as a matter of law.").

"The party seeking summary judgment has the burden of clearly establishing the absence of a genuine issue of material fact." *McNair v. Rainsford*, 330 S.C. 332, 342, 499 S.E.2d 488, 493 (Ct. App. 1998) (citing *Baughman v. Am. Tel. & Tel. Co.*, 306 S.C. 101,

410 S.E.2d 537 (1991); *Standard Fire Ins. Co. v. Marine Contracting & Towing Co.*, 301 S.C. 418, 392 S.E.2d 460 (1990)). "In determining whether any triable issues of fact exist, the evidence and all inferences which can be reasonably drawn therefrom must be viewed in the light most favorable to the nonmoving party." *Lanham v. Blue Cross & Blue Shield of South Carolina, Inc.*, 349 S.C. 356, 361-62, 563 S.E.2d 331, 333 (2002) (citing *Summer v. Carpenter*, 328 S.C. 36, 492 S.E.2d 55 (1997)); accord *Strother v. Lexington Cnty. Recreation Comm'n*, 332 S.C. 54, 61, 504 S.E.2d 117, 121 (1998). "Summary judgment is not appropriate where further inquiry into the facts of the case is desirable to clarify the application of the law." *Lanham*, 349 S.C. at 362, 563 S.E.2d at 333 (citing *Brockbank v. Best Capital Corp.*, 341 S.C. 372, 534 S.E.2d 688 (2000)).

"All ambiguities, conclusions, and inferences arising from the evidence must be construed most strongly against the moving party." *Hall v. Fedor*, 349 S.C. 169, 173, 561 S.E.2d 654, 656 (Ct. App. 2002) (citing *Young v. South Carolina Dep't of Corr.*, 333 S.C. 714, 511 S.E.2d 413 (Ct. App. 1999)). "Even when there is no dispute as to evidentiary facts, but only as to the conclusions or inferences to be drawn from them, summary judgment should be denied." *Id.* at 173-74, 561 S.E.2d at 656. "Because it is a drastic remedy, summary judgment should be cautiously invoked so no person will be improperly deprived of a trial of the disputed factual issues." *Murray v. Holnam, Inc.*, 344 S.C. 129, 138, 542 S.E.2d 743, 747 (Ct. App. 2001) (citing *Carolina Alliance for Fair Employment v. South Carolina Dep't of Labor, Licensing & Regulation*, 337 S.C. 476, 523 S.E.2d 795 (1999)).

## ARGUMENT

### **I. THE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN DETERMINING THE STORMWATER MANAGEMENT AND SEDIMENT REDUCTION ACT APPLIES TO THIS CASE AND SUPPORTS GRANTING SUMMARY JUDGMENT**

The trial court's reliance on SCDOT's citation to the Stormwater Management and Sediment Reduction Act ("Stormwater Act")<sup>2</sup> in support of the ruling granting summary judgment was a clear error of law and amounted to an erroneous abuse of discretion. The Marlowes did not allege any deficiency in regard to SCDOT's application or procurement of a permit under the Stormwater Act. The Stormwater Act is inapplicable to the facts and issues in this case, and the trial court's reliance on it in granting SCDOT's motion for summary judgment was a clear error of law that amounted to an abuse of discretion.

The Legislature's intent is plainly and unequivocally expressed in the applicable statute. The General Assembly enacted the Stormwater Act to specifically address stormwater management and sediment reduction. The purpose of the Stormwater Act is "to reduce the adverse effects of stormwater runoff and sediment and to safeguard property and the public welfare by strengthening and making uniform the existing stormwater management and sediment control program." Act No. 51, 1991 Acts 167.

In fact, the Supreme Court has previously stated that the "legislature enacted the Stormwater Act to specifically deal with stormwater management and sediment reduction." *Responsible Economic Development v. SC DHEC*, 641 S.E.2d 425, 371 S.C. 547 (2007). The *Responsible Economic Development* Court wrote that the purpose of the Stormwater Act is "to reduce the adverse effects of stormwater runoff and sediment and to safeguard property and the public welfare by strengthening and making uniform the

---

<sup>2</sup> S.C. Code Ann. §§ 48-14-10 to -170 (Supp. 2005).

existing stormwater management and sediment control program." *Id.* (citing Act No. 51, 1991 Acts 167).

The Stormwater Act requires a person who intends to engage in a land disturbing activity to submit a stormwater management and sediment control plan to the appropriate agency and obtain a permit before engaging in the activity, unless an exemption applies. S.C. Code Ann. § 48-14-30 (Supp. 2005). The stormwater regulations provide that unless exempted, "a person may not undertake a land disturbing activity without an approved stormwater management and sediment control plan." S.C. Code Ann. Regs. 72–305(A). In other words, all non-exempt development construction sites must have a permitted plan for handling stormwater, the requirements of which depend on the size and complexity of the project. *See id.* 72–305(B). Further, as the Court's Order notes, the Stormwater Act states that "[n]othing... in this chapter... may be construed: (2) to relieve the person engaged in the land disturbing activity of the duties, obligations, responsibilities, or liabilities arising from or incident to the operations associated with the land disturbing activity." (See Order dated March 25, 2020, at 3-4 (citing S.C. Code Ann. § 48-14-160(2))).

Put simply, the Stormwater Act does not in any way even remotely apply to the facts of this case, and there is no South Carolina authority determining a party was not liable to another for creating or worsening property flooding because of reliance on the Stormwater Act. In fact, there is no South Carolina case or other authority in support of the proposition that the SCDOT may make an end run around liability for its actions or inactions by relying on a permitting statute. To the contrary, South Carolina law states that where the language of a statute is plain and express (as it is here), the court has no

right to impose another meaning. The trial court's order, like SCDOT's memorandum in support of its motion for summary judgment, glaringly fails to cite to or rely on any South Carolina appellate case (or federal court analysis) interpreting the Stormwater Act to relieve a party from similar actions and inactions as the facts alleged here. However, as the Order – and statute – notes, the Stormwater Act expressly states that it does not relieve SCDOT from liability for actions or inactions in the land disturbing activities. (R. p. 4).

Because the General Assembly's intent is plain and explicit, because there is no precedent or authority supporting the trial court's conclusion in similar cases, and because proximate causation is a jury question, the trial court's reliance on the Stormwater Act was not a valid basis for granting summary judgment in SCDOT's favor. For that reason, the trial court's determination was controlled by an error of law and constituted an abuse of discretion. *Parker v. Williams & Madjanik, Inc.*, 239 S.E.2d 487, 269 S.C. 662 (1977); *see also McClurg v. Deaton*, 380 S.C. 563, 570, 671 S.E.2d 87, 91 (Ct. App. 2008), *aff'd*, 395 S.C. 85, 716 S.E.2d 887 (2011) ("An abuse of discretion arises where the judge issuing the order was controlled by an error of law or where the order is based on factual conclusions that are without evidentiary support."). Thus, the trial court's Order should be reversed.

## **II. THE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN MAKING FACTUAL DETERMINATIONS REGARDING THE CAUSE OF THE FLOODING OF THE MARLOWES' PROPERTY AND THE MARLOWES' INJURIES.**

### **A. Whether the flooding to the Marlowes' property was caused by an "act of God" was a question for the jury.**

In its order, the trial court found that the flooding to the Marlowes' residence was caused by "acts of God," not any negligence on the part of SCDOT.<sup>3</sup> Causation, and specifically whether a party's injuries were caused by an "act of God", is a question of fact for the jury. *Montgomery v. Nat'l Convoy & Trucking Co.*, 186 S.C. 167, 195 S.E. 247 (1938).<sup>4</sup>

"Ordinarily, proximate cause is a question for the jury[.]" *McKnight v. S.C. Dep't of Corr.*, 385 S.C. 380, 387, 684 S.E.2d 566, 569 (Ct. App. 2009). "Only in rare or exceptional cases may the question of proximate cause be decided as a matter of law. If there is a fair difference of opinion regarding whose act proximately caused the injury, then the question of proximate cause must be submitted to the jury." *Hurd v. Williamsburg Cty.*, 353 S.C. 596, 613-14, 579 S.E.2d 136, 145 (Ct. App. 2003) (citations omitted), *aff'd*, 363 S.C. 421, 611 S.E.2d 488 (2005).

South Carolina law imposes no liability for injuries or damages sustained as the result of an act of God. Nor is one liable for damages caused by the act of God, if such act be the direct or proximate cause of the injury. *Montgomery v. Nat'l Convoy & Trucking Co.*, 186 S.C. 167, 195 S.E. 247 (1938). However, "act of God" is a valid defense only when it is the sole cause of the injury. *Id.* (emphasis added).

---

<sup>3</sup> Specifically, the Court concluded that "[t]he flooding in October 2015 and October 2016 were Acts of God and not caused by the SCDOT. In October 2015, the Grand Strand and Pee Dee suffered from the '1000 Year Flood.' Then in October 2016, Hurricane Matthew struck South Carolina causing massive flooding throughout the Grand Strand and Pee Dee. Many residents suffered flooding in their homes, including many who had never experienced flooding previously." (R. p. 5).

<sup>4</sup> This analysis applies equally to the Court's Stormwater Act determination, *supra*: "whether the violation of a statute is the proximate cause of an injury is ordinarily a jury issue and thus inappropriate for disposition by summary judgment." *Coleman v. Shaw*, 281 S.C. 107, 314 S.E.2d 154 (Ct. App. 1983).

In *Montgomery*, the Supreme Court held that it was a question of fact for the jury to determine if the “act of God” was the proximate cause of respondent's injury, or if respondent had shown by the preponderance of the evidence that the act of omission on the part of appellants in failing to warn her of the blocked condition of the highway in time to prevent the injury, combining and concurring with the act of God, was the proximate cause of the injuries suffered by respondent. *Id.* Leaving out the question of contributory negligence on the part of a plaintiff, when a defendant pleads the act of God, he must prove that the act of God is the sole proximate cause of the injury, and to do so, such defendant must of necessity prove that he is without negligence which contributed as a proximate cause. *Id.* In other words, this defense creates a separate issue in which the rule is different, in that a defendant has to prove himself without negligence in order to show that the act of God is the sole proximate cause. *Id.*

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