IN THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
IN THE COURT OF APPEALS

APPEAL FROM FLORENCE COUNTY
COURT OF COMMON PLEAS
MICHAEL G. NETTLES, CIRCUIT COURT JUDGE

APPELLATE CASE NO.: 2020-000614

James Marlowe and Lori Marlowe, individually and as Next Friends of K.P., H.M., and B.M.,
Minors under the age of Eighteen years,

Appellants,

v.

South Carolina Department of Transportation,

Respondent.

RESPONDENT'S FINAL BRIEF

John B. McCutcheon, Jr., SC Bar #3767
THOMPSON & HENRY, P.A.
1300 Second Avenue, Third Floor (29526)
P. O. Box 1740
Conway, South Carolina 29528
jmccutcheon@thompsonlaw.com
(843) 248-5741 - voice
(843) 248-5112 – fax

Attorney for the Respondent

RECEIVED
May 07 2021

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

ARGUMENT

I. THE TRIAL COURT CORRECTLY DETERMINED THAT THE SOUTH CAROLINA DEPARTMENT OF TRANSPORTATION IS NOT LIABLE TO THE APPELLANTS PURSUANT TO THE TORT CLAIMS ACT

The flooding in October 2015 and October 2016 were Acts of God and not caused by the SCDOT. In October 2015, the Grand Strand and Pee Dee suffered from the “1000 Year Flood.” Then in October 2016, Hurricane Matthew struck South Carolina causing massive flooding throughout the Grand Strand and Pee Dee. Many residents suffered flooding on their property and in their homes, including many who had never experienced flooding previously. The flooding to Appellants’ residence was caused by Acts of God, not any negligence on the part of the SCDOT.

Furthermore, the trial court correctly found that the Tort Claims Act (SC Code Ann 15-78-10 et seq) exempts the SCDOT from liability for natural conditions on a public roadway, or nuisance. The Tort Claims Act further exempts the SCDOT from liability for design of highways and any defect or condition on a highway “unless the defect or condition is not corrected within a reasonable time after actual or constructive notice.” SC Code Ann 15-78-60(15).

South Carolina Code Section 15-78-60 (the Tort Claims Act) states in relevant part that:

The governmental entity is not liable for a loss resulting from:

(5) the exercise of discretion or judgment by the governmental entity or employee or the performance or failure to perform any act or service which is in the discretion or judgment of the governmental entity or employee;

(7) a nuisance;

(8) snow or ice conditions or **temporary or natural conditions on any public way or other public place due to weather conditions** unless the snow or ice thereon is affirmatively caused by a negligent act of the employee;

(15) absence, condition, or malfunction of any sign, signal, warning device, illumination device, guardrail, or median barrier unless the absence, condition, or malfunction is not corrected by the governmental entity responsible for its maintenance within a reasonable time after actual or constructive notice. Governmental entities are not liable for the removal or destruction of signs, signals, warning devices, guardrails, or median barriers by third parties except on failure of the political subdivision to correct them within a reasonable time after actual or constructive notice. Nothing in this item gives rise to liability arising from a failure of any governmental entity to initially place any of the above signs, signals, warning devices, guardrails, or median barriers when the failure is the result of a discretionary act of the governmental entity. The signs, signals, warning devices, guardrails, or median barriers referred to in this item are those used in connection with hazards normally connected with the use of public ways and do not apply to the duty to warn of special conditions such as excavations, dredging, or public way construction. **Governmental entities are not liable for the design of highways and other public ways.** Governmental entities are not liable for loss on public ways under construction when the entity is protected by an indemnity bond. **Governmental entities responsible for maintaining highways, roads, streets, causeways, bridges, or other public ways are not liable for loss arising out of a defect or a condition in, on, under, or overhanging a highway, road, street, causeway, bridge, or other public way caused by a third party unless the defect or condition is not corrected by the particular governmental entity responsible for the maintenance within a reasonable time after actual or constructive notice;**

SC Code Ann 15-78-60
[emphasis added]

Pursuant to the Tort Claims Act, the SCDOT is not liable for the flooding on the Appellants' property as the rain event and Hurricane were natural conditions, not caused by SCDOT or its agents or employees. The Tort Claims Act relieves SCDOT from liability for the design of highways, which is exactly what the Appellants have alleged in their Complaint. The Tort Claims Act further relieves SCDOT from liability for natural conditions occurring on public roadways. The rain event and hurricane were natural conditions, and as such, SCDOT had no

control over those natural conditions or their impact on Appellants' property. While the statute specifically mentions snow or ice, it also refers to "temporary or natural conditions" which would include stormwater. The stormwater and flooding surrounding the Appellants' residence were temporary natural conditions due to weather. Therefore, SCDOT is immune from liability under the Tort Claims Act for the flooding damage to Appellants' property.

The Tort Claims Act further exempts the SCDOT from liability for design of highways and any defect or condition on a highway "unless the defect or condition is not corrected within a reasonable time after actual or constructive notice." SC Code Ann 15-78-60(15).

The Appellants have alleged that rainwater during the 1000-year flood and Hurricane Matthew caused flooding to their property. (R. p. 19-20). Rainwater is a natural and temporary condition on a roadway that would cause the Tort Claims Act to apply to this case.

Pursuant to the Tort Claims Act, the SCDOT is not liable for the flooding on the Appellants' property as the rain event and Hurricane were natural conditions, not caused by SCDOT or its agents or employees. The Tort Claims Act relieves SCDOT from liability for the design of highways, which is exactly what the Appellants have alleged in their Complaint. The Tort Claims Act further relieves SCDOT from liability for natural conditions occurring on public roadways. The rain event and hurricane were natural conditions, and as such, SCDOT had no control over those natural conditions or their impact on Appellants' property.

II. THE TRIAL COURT CORRECTLY FOUND THAT APPELLANTS' EXPERT FAILED TO OPINE AS TO THE ALLEGED DEFECT AND CAUSATION

In addition, the trial court correctly found that Appellants' expert failed to opine as to any alleged defect and causation between the alleged defect and the flooding. (R. p. 004-005). The

Appellants' expert failed to show that any such alleged defect caused the flooding to a reasonable degree of engineering certainty. Any alleged defect and any damage resulting therefrom would not be in the purview of common knowledge, and thus, an expert is necessary to testify regarding the alleged defect and any potential causation. The expert's opinions must be to a reasonable degree of engineering certainty. Appellants' expert has failed to give opinions to a reasonable degree of engineering certainty in this case.

Jason Gregorie, PE, the Appellants' expert, testified that he was "not alleging that there's a construction defect or a design defect of the road, in accordance with SCOOT standards." (Gregorie depo, page 61). He further testified "I don't take issue with the design or construction of the road itself." (Gregorie depo, page 61). Gregorie further testified that:

What I'm going to testify about here today is what I state in my report, is that if the prior U.S. 378 existed and the new U.S. 378 had not been constructed. I can say – I do say to a reasonable degree of engineering certainty that the flood depth would have been less on the Marlowe property, and I believe the impact on the Marlowe property would have been less. I say that it's **possible** that it would have been prevented. (Gregorie depo, page 77. Emphasis added)

I can say to a reasonable degree of engineering certainty that the construction project contributed to the flooding. I believe that it increased the flood depth on the property, but I cannot say definitely that if the project had not existed that it would have completely prevented the flooding. (Gregorie depo, page 79)

A: Well, I – to a reasonable degree of certainty, I say that it has affected the depth, the flood depth of the property. I think I say that it may – may have or there was a possibility it would have prevented the flooding inside the structure altogether.

Q: May have?

A: That's correct.

Q: So it still—you agree that even with the old US 378 with these two rain events the Marlowe property still could have flooded?

A: It's possible, yes.

(Gregorie depo, page 84)

Mr. Gregorie testified that the construction increased the height of the flood waters. However, Mr. Gregorie also testified that absent the widening project and road construction, the Marlowe's residence may have still flooded. Mr. Gregorie could not testify to a reasonable degree of engineering certainty that absent the road construction, the flooding would have been prevented. Stated differently, Mr. Gregorie testified that the Appellants' property still could have flooded even without the road construction.

The Appellants' expert does not find any defect in the construction of Highway 378 near the Appellants' property. Furthermore, the Appellants' expert failed to opine that the actions (or inactions) of SCDOT caused flooding to the Appellants' residence to a reasonable degree of engineering certainty. Therefore, the trial court correctly determined that there was no evidence of breach of any duty the SCDOT owed, and furthermore, that any alleged breach caused damage to Appellants' property.

III. THE TRIAL COURT CORRECTLY GRANTED SUMMARY JUDGMENT ON THE INVERSE CONDEMNATION CLAIM

The trial court correctly determined that summary judgment was proper on the Appellants' claim for inverse condemnation. (R. p. 006-007). The Appellants argue in their brief that SCDOT failed to move for summary judgment on the inverse condemnation claim. However, the issue was fully argued during the Motion for Summary Judgment hearing, and further alleged in Appellants' Complaint. (R. p. 21, 390-402).

“To establish an inverse condemnation, a Appellant must show: (1) an affirmative, positive, aggressive act on the part of the governmental agency; (2) a taking; (3) the taking is for a public use; and (4) the taking has some degree of permanence.” Hawkins v. City of Greenville, 358 SC

280, (Ct.App.2004) 290 (the Court later determined that the permanence factor was no longer required).

“The South Carolina cases addressing inverse condemnation are uniform in requiring that the claim be proved by ‘affirmative, positive, aggressive’ acts by the governmental agency. Allegations of mere failure to act are insufficient.” Hawkins at 291 (citing Berry's On Main, Inc. v. City of Columbia, 277 S.C. 14, 16, 281 S.E.2d 796, 797 (1981) (holding that proof of inverse condemnation requires that “there must be an affirmative, positive, aggressive act on the part of the governmental agency”); Gray v. South Carolina Dep't of Highways & Pub. Transp., 311 S.C. 144, 149, 427 S.E.2d 899, 902 (Ct.App.1993) (listing as an element of inverse condemnation the requirement that there be “an affirmative, positive, aggressive act on the part of the governmental agency”)).

“[A] regulatory taking by its very nature necessitates the existence of some regulation, statute, ordinance, zoning law, or similar rule of law that impacts a landowner’s use of his property. In other words, regulatory takings exist only in conjunction with affirmative governmental restrictions on the use of land.” Kiriakides v. School District of Greenville County, 382 S.C. 8 (2009) (citing Lucas v. South Carolina Coastal Council, 505 US 1003, 112 S.Ct. 2886 (1992)).

“The Supreme Court of the United States has held that the ‘impairment of the market value of real property incident to otherwise legitimate government action ordinarily does not result in a taking.’ Kiriakides v. School District of Greenville County, 382 S.C. 8 (2009) (quoting Kirby Forest Indus. V. United States, 467 U.S. 1, 15 (1984)).

In this case, the Appellants failed to show that SCDOT and its employees had any affirmative, positive, and aggressive acts that caused the Appellants’ alleged harm. As noted by the Hawkins court, a mere failure to act is insufficient. There has been no affirmative conduct on

the part of the SCDOT restricting the Appellants' land. Installing culverts and construction to public roadways is a "legitimate government action" on behalf of the SCDOT as discussed in the Kiriakides case above. Therefore, the Appellants' inverse condemnation allegations fail to meet the standard of an affirmative, positive, and aggressive act by the SCDOT.

"It is well settled that an owner is not entitled to recover damages unless he has sustained an injury different in kind and not merely in degree from that suffered by the public at large. If it appears that there is a special injury, the owner may recover damages..." Hardin v. South Carolina Department of Transportation, 3714 S.C. 598, 606 (2007).

The Appellants failed to show that they suffered special damages, "different in kind" from that suffered from the public at large as required in Hardin. In fact, the Appellants allege quite the opposite, indicating that several other homeowners near their property also flooded. Furthermore, it is common knowledge that many homes in the Pee Dee flooded during the 1000-year flood and Hurricane Matthew. Because the Appellants have not suffered a special damage, different in kind from the public at large, then they do not have a claim for inverse condemnation. Therefore, the trial court correctly granted summary judgment on the Appellants' inverse condemnation claim.

IV. THE TRIAL COURT CORRECTLY RELIED ON THE STORMWATER MANAGEMENT AND SEDIMENT REDUCTION ACT IN GRANTING RESPONDENT'S MOTION FOR SUMMARY JUDGMENT

The Stormwater Management and Sediment Reduction Act states:

- (A) Unless exempted, no person may engage in a land disturbing activity without first submitting a stormwater management and sediment control plan to the appropriate implementing agency and obtaining a permit to proceed.
- (B) Each person responsible for the land disturbing activity shall certify, on the stormwater management and sediment control plan submitted, that all land disturbing activities will be done according to the approved plan.

(C) All approved land disturbing activities must have associated therein at least one individual who functions as responsible personnel. (SC Code Ann. 48-14-30)

Nothing contained in this chapter and no action or failure to act under this chapter may be construed:

(1) to impose any liability on the State, department, districts, local governments, or other agencies, officers, or employees thereof for the recovery of damages caused by such action or failure to act; or

(2) to relieve the person engaged in the land disturbing activity of the duties, obligations, responsibilities, or liabilities arising from or incident to the operations associated with the land disturbing activity. (SC Code Ann. 48-14-160)

Pursuant to SC Code Section 48-14-160, the Stormwater Management and Sediment Reduction Act does not impose any liability on SCDOT and their agents or employees for the road construction near the Appellants' residence.

CONCLUSION

For the above stated reasons, the Court of Appeals should affirm the trial court's granting of summary judgment in favor of the South Carolina Department of Transportation.